### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| DANA WILLIAMSON,  | )                        |    |
|-------------------|--------------------------|----|
| Appellant,        | )<br>)                   |    |
| v.                | )<br>) CASE NO. SC07-564 |    |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, | ) L.T. NO. 92-15642 C    | FA |
| Appellee.         | )                        |    |

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida

**KEVIN J. KULIK, ESQUIRE** 

Florida Bar Number 475841 600 South Andrews Avenue, Suite 500 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone (954) 761-9411 Facsimile (954) 764-5040 Attorney for Appellant

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Dana Williamson ("Williamson"), was the defendant and postconviction movant in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Appellee, State of Florida ("State"), was the plaintiff.

References to the Post-Conviction Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol APCR@ followed the appropriate page number(s) and encased in parentheses.

References to the original trial Record will be designated by the symbol ARe followed the appropriate page number(s) and encased in parentheses.

References to the original Trial Transcript will be designated by the symbol AT@ followed the appropriate page number(s) and encased in parentheses.

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction to review a Circuit Court-s ruling upon a motion for post-conviction relief, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851, in a death penalty case. Art. V, ' 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(1).

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

To uphold a trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a post-conviction motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851, the claims must be either facially insufficient or conclusively refuted by the record. *See* Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d). Where no evidentiary hearing has been held below, the Supreme Court accepts the defendant's factual allegations as true to the extent they are not conclusively refuted by the record. Peede v. State, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 19, 1994, Appellant, Dana Williamson, was convicted of first degree murder, armed burglary, extortion, four counts of armed robbery five counts of armed kidnaping and three counts of attempted first degree murder. Williamson was sentenced to death for the 1988 killing of Donna Decker. (T 3203-04).

In 1988, Donna and Bob Decker resided in Davie, Florida, together with their infant son, Carl. (T 577, 1012). Bob Decker owned a construction business at the time. On the night of November 4, 1988, Bob, Carl, and Clyde Decker (Bob's father visiting from out of town) returned home to find Charles Panoyan ("Panoyan") in the driveway. (T 581, 1158). Panoyan was the Deckers=acquaintance and occasional employee. He had assisted in the construction of Deckers home and knew its dimensions and alarm system. Bob Decker testified that Panoyan rarely came to the home, and that Decker was surprised to see him. (T 646, 1023, 1158). The Deckers greeted Panoyan in the driveway and they all went inside. (T 583, 1162, 2105).

Panoyan then abruptly stated that he had to go outside to bring in some deer meat which he had forgotten to bring initially. (T 583, 1159). When Panoyan returned a moment later, Clyde Decker helped him put the deer meat in the kitchen. (T 583, 1061, 2105). Upon returning to the living room, they confronted a man with a gun wearing a

mask and a straw cowboy hat. (T 583, 1061). Bob Decker at first thought that it was a practical joke pulled by Panoyan, but soon discovered otherwise. (T 583, 1061). The Deckers were taken into the master bedroom, handcuffed and bound. (T 584, 1167). Panoyan claimed that he was hog-tied out in the family room, but showed no marks or burns when subsequently examined by police. (T 584, 649, 659, 1171, 2345). Bob Decker testified that he caught a glimpse of Panoyan talking to the gunman. (T 1067, 1172).

Meanwhile, Donna Decker arrived home from work, was overpowered by the intruders (T 584) and tied up. (T 585, 1077, 1179). Bob and Donna were questioned about the location of their money and were forced to sign some sort of legal form. (T 603, 1062, 1084, 1087). Donna was stabbed to death after putting up a struggle. (T 591, 1191). Bob, Carl, and Clyde were each shot in the head with a 22-caliber revolver. (T 587-88, 1132). Bob, Carl and Clyde, however, all survived. (T 589, 1191). Panoyan was released unharmed and eventually called police. (T 592, 1184). Panoyan, initially the prime suspect (T 613), never mentioned Williamson to police. (T 613, 2173). The belt and handcuff key, which fit the handcuffs used on Bob Decker (T 610, 2694, 2697), were found in Panoyans truck. (T 612). Neither Williamsons finger prints nor blood were found at the scene. (T 661, 662).

In 1989, police received an anonymous tip that Williamson was the assailant and Panoyan innocent. (T 613, 2169). Prior to the tip, police had not considered Williamson a suspect. (T 613). They went to Ohio to speak with him. (T 613, 1337). Asked about the hat, Williamson stated that he had owned a similar one. (T 664, 2783, 2696, 3026). Police arrested Williamson and Panoyan. (T 666, 1382, 2172).

Panoyan was released on his own recognizance when he made a statement to police claiming Williamson was the perpetrator of the attack. (T 667, 2138, 2212). Panoyan alleged that he had been scared into silence by Williamson. (T 2123-24). Panoyan agreed to testify as the State=s chief witness. Panoyan testified that Williamson was the gunman and had let him live because of Panoyan=s friendship with Williamson's father. (T 2329). Panoyan stated that he had no involvement in the crime and was coerced into silence by threats from Williamson. (T 2123-24).

The State introduced evidence concerning Williamson's 1975 conviction as a minor for manslaughter. (T 1546, 2147). The record shows this evidence was introduced to bolster Panoyan's claims that he had reason to believe threats allegedly made by Williamson to induce his silence. The State also proffered the testimony of three jail house informants serving time for felony convictions (T 1537, 1915, 2487), who testified that Williamson had admitted the alleged acts. (T 1930, 1915, 2487).

Other than Panoyan=s testimony, the evidence was circumstantial, including a deed executed by Williamson to show his knowledge of legal forms (T 1472), the cowboy hat and a utility belt similar to the belt found at the scene. (T 2783, 3026). The jury returned guilty verdicts on 14 counts, including the 3 attempted first degree murders (T 3212-13; T 2899), proceeding on alternative theories of premeditation or attempted first degree felony murder. The attempted first degree murders were tried jointly with the other counts including the killing of Donna Decker.

The trial court-s instructions to the jury on how to arrive at its advisory penalty verdict included the following:

The aggravating circumstances that you may consider are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence:

1. The defendant has been previously convicted of another capital offense or of a *felony involving* the use or threat of violence to some person.

The crime of Attempted Murder in the First Degree is a felony involving the use of violence to another person . . .

(R 3210) (emphasis added).

The trial court cited the attempted first degree murder verdicts in its rationale for applying the other-violent-felony aggravator, noting in its sentencing order:

[C]ontemporaneous convictions involving persons other than the homicide victim can also be used to prove this aggravating circumstance. The Defendant was convicted of four (4) other felonies involving persons other than the homicide victim as follows:

- 1. The Attempted First Degree Murder . . .
- 2. The Attempted First Degree Murder . . .
- 3. The Attempted First Degree Murder . . .
- 4. The Extortion . . .

(R 5378). The trial court sentenced Williamson to death (T 3203-04), and Williamson filed a direct appeal, raising the following issues:

- A. THE ADMISSION OF A THIRTEEN YEAR-OLD CONVICTION WAS ERROR
- B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SEVER THE EXTORTION COUNT FROM THE TRIAL
- C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE RELATING TO APPELLANT'S EXECUTION OF DIVORCE PAPERS AND A QUIT CLAIM DEED
- D. THE JURY'S VERDICT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE

- E. THE APPELLANT'S MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES MANDATE THIS HIS DEATH SENTENCE BE VACATED
- F. FLORIDA STATUTE '921.141 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL, AS IT IS VAGUE AND OVERBROAD

This Court affirmed Willamson-s judgment and death sentence, Williamson v. State, 681 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1996), and he moved for post-conviction relief, alleging:

# a. Ineffectiveness of Defense Counsel WILLIAMSON WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 & 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION WHEN DEFENSE COUNSEL:

- I. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE STATE-S OPENING STATEMENT WHICH CONSTITUTED IMPERMISSIBLE AGOLDEN RULE@ ARGUMENT AND BOLSTERED THE CREDIBILITY OF THE STATE-S KEY WITNESS;
- II. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF A WRITTEN WAIVER OF IMMUNITY BY THE STATE-S KEY WITNESS DESPITE THE STATE-S FAILURE TO EARLIER DISCLOSE THE WAIVER DURING DISCOVERY AND DESPITE THE COURT-S FAILURE TO HOLD AN ADEQUATE RICHARDSON HEARING;
- III. FAILED TO IMPEACH THE STATE-S SOLE EYE-WITNESS IDENTIFICATION USING THE WITNESS= ORIGINAL STATEMENTS TO POLICE IN WHICH THE WITNESS CLAIMED NOT TO HAVE KNOWN THE PERPETRATOR;

- IV. FAILED TO VOIR DIRE THE STATE-S EXPERT WITNESS ON AINFLUENCE AND CONTROL® WHOSE EXPERT TESTIMONY WOULD NOT ASSIST THE JURY, OBVIATING THE REQUIREMENT OF HOLDING A FRYE HEARING OR OF MAKING A SHOWING OF ANY INDICIA OF RELIABILITY FOR THIS NOVEL SCIENCE:
- V. FAILED TO REQUEST A CURATIVE INSTRUCTION AFTER THE COURT SUSTAINED A DEFENSE OBJECTION TO TESTIMONY BY THE STATE-S EXPERT WITNESS ON AINFLUENCE AND CONTROL® WHO VOUCHED FOR THE CREDIBILITY OF THE STATE-S KEY WITNESS BY EXPRESSING AN EXPERT OPINION THAT THE WITNESS-THREE-YEAR DELAY IN CHANGING HIS STORY TO INCRIMINATE WILLIAMSON FOR THE FIRST TIME WAS CAUSED BY A ACREDIBLE THREAT®;
- VI. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE STATE-S UNFAIRLY PRE-JUDICIAL CLOSING ARGUMENT IN WHICH THE STATE:
  - a. TOLD JURORS AYOU BETTER BELIEVE THAT WE FILED THESE CHARGES BECAUSE IT=S WARRANTED@
  - b. VOUCHED FOR THE CREDIBILITY OF THE STATE-S KEY WITNESS BY CHARACTERIZING THREATS THE STATE WITNESS TESTIFIED WILLIAMSON MADE AS ABELIEVABLE THREATS.
  - c. DISCUSSED TESTIMONY OF AANOTHER WITNESS THAT YOU DIDN=T HEAR FROM BECAUSE HE=S A CHILD AND A BABY@THAT HE HAD SEEN HIS MOTHER MURDERED;
- VII. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE STATE-S CHARACTERIZATION OF THE OFFENSE AS AINEXCUSABLE@DESPITE THE JURY-S INSTRUCTION ON EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE;

- VIII. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE STATE-S ARGUMENT DURING PENALTY PHASE OPENING STATEMENTS THAT THE EVIDENCE IN MITIGATION CONSTITUTED MERE AEXCUSES@
- IX. COUNSEL=S UNAUTHORIZED CONCESSION OF WILLIAMSON=S GUILT DURING THE PENALTY PHASE CONSTITUTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

#### b. Fundamental Error

THE LIKELIHOOD THAT THE VERDICTS IN COUNTS II THRU IV RESTED ON THE STATE-S ALTERNATIVE THEORY OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER [A NON-EXISTENT OFFENSE AT THE TIME THIS CASE BECAME FINAL ON DIRECT APPEAL] CONSTITUTES FUNDAMENTAL ERROR:

- X. REQUIRING THE JUDGMENTS AND SENTENCES FOR ATTEMPTED MURDER BE VACATED AND SET ASIDE;
- XI. REQUIRING A NEW PENALTY PHASE TRIAL UNDER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AS THESE CONVICTIONS TIPPED THE JURY-S SCALES IN FAVOR OF DEATH

(PCR 525-576). The State filed a response (PCR 612-707), and, after a <u>Huff</u> hearing, the trial court summarily denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. (PCR 803-839). Williamson filed notice of appeal. (PCR 840).

This Initial Brief follows.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in summarily denying Williamson-s claims, as they are facially sufficient and not conclusively refuted by the record.

### **ARGUMENT**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING DEFENDANT=S CLAIMS WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING AS THEY ARE FACIALLY SUFFICIENT AND NOT CONCLUSIVELY REFUTED BY THE RECORD

The trial court entered an Order on Williamson-s Sworn Motion for Post-conviction Relief, stating that no evidentiary hearing would be had on any of its grounds and that each of the claims would be summarily denied. (PCR 803-839).

To uphold a summary denial of claims raised in a post-conviction motion, the claims must be shown to be either facially insufficient or conclusively refuted by the record. McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948 (Fla. 2002). In short, rule 3.850(d) requires: AIn those instances when the denial is not predicated on the legal insufficiency of the motion on its face, a copy of that portion of the files and records that conclusively shows that the movant is entitled to no relief shall be attached to the order.

Williamson has alleged a denial of his Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel. As the files and records attached to the summary denial fail to conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief, reversal is required. McLin v. State. As the summarily denied claims and the stated grounds for their denial each differ in this case, individual review of each claim follows.

### I. TRIAL COUNSEL-S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE STATE-S AGOLDEN RULE@ ARGUMENT BOLSTERING THE CREDIBILITY OF THE STATE-S KEY WITNESS IN OPENING STATEMENTS

In its opening statement, the State discussed Panoyan=s claim that Williamson had threatened Panoyan=s wife and children, purportedly telling Panoyan:

AI will castrate your son . . . I will rape your daughter and after I rape your daughter and after we gang rape your daughter I will cut out her guts and place them there for you to see. I will do the same thing to your wife. I will cut off her nipples. I will skin your children and your wife alive in front of you.@

(T 592). The State then went on to make the following argument:

ACharles Panoyan is the person I was eluding (sic) to in voir dire when I asked if *you* had ever been between a rock and a hard place@(emphasis added).

(T 592) (emphasis added).

At *voir dire*, the State had indeed alluded to one=s being between a rock and a hard place when it came to protecting one=s children. (T 306-308).

At no point did Williamson=s trial counsel object to the foregoing comment by the prosecution, which was calculated to, and did, *begin* Williamson=s trial by having jurors place themselves inside alleged victim Panoyan=s purported shoes, appealing to their

sympathies and urging them to abandon neutrality. This Court, however, in <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985), held such "Golden Rule" argument, asking jurors to place themselves in a victim=s shoes, is clearly prohibited.

Counsels failure to object to the States argument left unchallenged from the start the idea that the States chief witness (a flipped co-defendant) was a victim in whose shoes throughout trial jurors should put themselves. The States comment not only constituted argument rather than opening statement, but argument of the most pernicious kind and timing, infecting the fundamental fairness of the entire trial.

In LeRetilley v. Harris, 354 So. 2d 1213, 1214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), for example, defense counsel had objected to the States Golden Rule argument but failed to secure a ruling on the objection. The Fourth District held counsels failure to obtain a ruling or request a curative instruction rendered the otherwise reversible error waived for direct appeal. At bar, trial counsels failure to object to this unfairly prejudicial comment and failure to request a curative jury instruction compromised the fundamental fairness of Williamsons trial from its inception and precluded him from raising it as reversible error on direct appeal. As such argument was unfairly prejudicial at trial, Bertolotti, and, if objected to, would have constituted reversible error on direct appeal, LeRetilley, there remains a reasonable probability that but for trial counsels failure to object or request a curative instruction, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different as jurors

would have taken a more objective view of the circumstantial evidence in this case.

Strickland v. Washington.

## II. FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF A WRITTEN WAIVER OF IMMUNITY BY THE STATE-S KEY WITNESS DESPITE THE STATE-S FAILURE TO EARLIER DISCLOSE THE WAIVER DURING DISCOVERY AND DESPITE THE COURT-S FAILURE TO HOLD AN ADEQUATE RICHARDSON HEARING

Williamsons trial counsel also failed to object to the admission into evidence of a written waiver of immunity executed by the States key witness, Charles Panoyan, upon his testimony before the Grand Jury inculpating Williamson. Panoyans Grand Jury testimony directly contradicted his original statements to police (in which he claimed not to have known the perpetrator) and the version he had maintained for 3 years. *See Ground III, infra.* Trial counsel failed to object to the admission of Panoyans waiver of immunity into evidence despite the States failure to disclose the waivers existence prior to trial. (T 2217)

Williamson=s trial counsel failed to object to the written waiver=s admission into evidence when the State tendered it, prejudicing the very heart of the defense, which hinged almost uniquely on Panoyan=s credibility, forever waiving the issue for purposes of direct appeal. Archer v. State, 673 So. 2d 17, 21 (Fla. 1996) (Defendant's failure to

object to a claimed error at trial provided no ruling by the trial judge upon which to base the claim of error on appeal).

When counsel complained the defense had been precluded from inquiring into the substance of Panoyan=s Grand Jury testimony at deposition, the trial court noted:

ABut you certainly had a right to go into it, and I=m sure you did, as a competent attorney.@

(T 2213). Trial counsel, however, never asked Panoyan at deposition whether he had waived immunity for his Grand Jury testimony. During neither of the opportunities trial counsel was given to depose Panoyan did counsel mention the Grand Jury. As the trial court=s rationale for admitting the waiver implied, counsel=s failure to do so was an act of incompetence. Its prejudice to the defense is evident from this Court=s opinion on direct appeal: APanoyan's credibility was a material issue on which the State's case depended. Williamson v. State, 681 So. 2d at 695.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> But cf. Rainey v. State, 596 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (even though the defendant knew the witness' name and failed to depose him, the State was nonetheless required to disclose the witness' statement).

Without *some* reason to believe Panoyans new version of events over his recanted versions, the State sought to show he would at least risk prosecution for perjury were he found to be lying. Rather than objecting to admission of this powerful document to bolster Panoyans otherwise lacking credibility (as recanted testimony is Aexceedingly unreliable@ Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994)), trial counsel handed the State this reason for jurors=belief on a silver platter.

Moreover, defense counsel failed to object to the inadequacy of the trial court-s Richardson hearing for this discovery violation. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220(b)(1)(vi), (xi) (1994) requires the State to disclose any tangible papers or objects it intends to use at trial. The State-s duty is continuing, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(j), and applies to all witnesses and evidence. Smith v. State, 500 So.2d 125, 126-27 (Fla. 1986); Hicks v. State, 400 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1981).

If, during the course of the proceedings, it is brought to the attention of a trial court that the State has failed to comply with the rules of discovery, the court must conduct a hearing to determine whether the state's violation was (1) inadvertent or willful, (2) whether the violation was trivial or substantial, and (3) what effect, if any, the violation had upon the ability of the defendant to prepare adequately for trial. Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771, 775 (Fla. 1971). Only

after the court has made a sufficient inquiry into all of the surrounding circumstances may it exercise its discretion to determine whether the State's noncompliance with the rule resulted in harm or prejudice to the defendant, thereby requiring the imposition of sanctions, such as excluding the evidence. *Id.* at 775.

The elements of an adequate <u>Richardson</u> hearing are clear. <u>Mondo v.</u> <u>State</u>, 640 So.2d 1232 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994) (Ainquiry should at least cover the inadvertence or willfulness of the state's violation, whether [it] was trivial or substantial, and the effect the violation had on the defendant's ability to properly prepare for trial@).

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