IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-564

DANA WILLIAMSON,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Drive #900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

Similarly, in <u>Urbin</u>, the prosecutor's closing penalty-phase argument was full of emotional fear and efforts to dehumanize/ demonize the defendant. The prosecutor used the word "executed" or "executing" at least nine times, described the 17-year old defendant as a cold-blooded and ruthless killer, stated several times the offenses exhibited deep-seated, vicious or brutal violence, that the defendant was violent to the core and in every atom of his body, and that he showed his true, violent, and brutal and vicious character in committing the murder. The prosecutor invited the jury to disregard the law, asserted that a life vote would be irresponsible and a violation of the juror's lawful duty, emotionally created an imaginary script demonstrating that the victim was shot while pleading for his life, attacked the character of the defendant's mother and made an impermissible mercy argument.

None of those fundamental errors were present in this penalty phase opening argument. In <u>Moore v. State</u>, 820 So.2d 199, 207-08 (Fla. 2002), the defendant alleged in a post-conviction motion that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to two (2) remarks made by the prosecutor during the State's guilt and penalty phase arguments, referring to the defendant as "the devil." The claim was

denied without an evidentiary hearing.

On appeal, the Supreme Court affirmed the summary denial, noting that the two isolated references to the defendant as "the devil", although ill advised, was less problematic than the pervasive and extensive conduct condemned in Brooks and Urbin. The Court found the case to be more like Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 191 n. 5 (Fla.1997), where the Supreme Court held that a prosecutor's isolated comments that defense counsel engaged in "cowardly" and "despicable" conduct and that the defendant was a "malevolent ... a brutal rapist and conscienceless murderer" was not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. See also Carroll v.State, 815 So.2d 601 (Fla.2002) (finding prosecutor's isolated statements that defendant was the "boogie man" and a "creature that stalked the night" who "must die" not so egregious or cumulative in scope to be error).

The Court concluded that given the case evidence and the finding of three aggravating circumstances and only one statutory mitigator which was given slight weight, there was no reasonable probability that, but for the deficiency, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Moore, 820 So.2d at 207-08. Similarly, here, there is no reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would be different. The court found three (3) aggravators, no statutory mitigators, and several non-statutory mitigators, to which it gave some or little weight.

ARGUMENT X

WILLIAMSON'S CLAIM THAT HIS CONVICTIONS IN COUNTS II THROUGH IV CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Relying upon <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1995), Williamson argues that his convictions on Counts II-IV for attempted first-degree murder constitute fundamental error because the verdicts rested on the State's alternative theory of attempted first-degree felony murder, a crime that was abolished in <u>Gray</u>. Williamson's argument is procedurally barred.

Williamson's Notice of Appeal was filed on August 3, 1994, approximately 9 months before the Supreme Court issued its opinion in <u>Gray</u> on May 4, 1995. Although Williamson's Initial Brief was not filed until June 12, 1995, more than 1 month after Gray was issued, it failed to argue that Williamson's convictions on Counts II-IV should be vacated because of <u>Gray</u>. In fact, the issue was never brought to the attention of this Court, even though it did not issue its opinion affirming Williamson's judgments and sentences until September 19, 1996.

Williamson is procedurally barred from raising the <u>Gray</u> issue in his 3.850 motion because he could/should have raised the issue on direct appeal. This Court questioned whether it had jurisdiction, under 3.850, to review the claim on fundamental error grounds. The State submits that it does not.

Rule 3.850 provides that the following grounds may be claims for relief:

- (1) The judgment was entered or sentence was imposed in violation of the Constitution or laws of the United States or the State of Florida.
- (2) The court did not have jurisdiction to enter the judgment.
- (3) The court did not have jurisdiction to impose the sentence.
- (4) The sentence exceeded the maximum authorized by law.
- (5) The plea was involuntary.
- (6) The judgment or sentence is otherwise subject to collateral attack.

The court questioned whether it had jurisdiction, pursuant to subsection (6), to grant relief. The State submits that it did not have jurisdiction under subsection (6) because it is subject to the same limitation, provided in subsection (c), as the other grounds. That is, rule 3.850 "does not authorize relief based on grounds that could have or should have been raised at trial . . . [or] on direct appeal." Rules 3.850 and 3.851 expressly prohibit their use to seek relief based upon grounds which could have or should have been raised on direct appeal. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850(c); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(e)(1)(E). Those claims which could/should have been raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred from being raised here. The doctrine of fundamental error does operate as a narrow exception to the procedural bar; however, it only allows those claims constituting "fundamental error" to be raised for the first time in a post-conviction motion. Smith v. State, 741 So.2d 576 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); Bell v. State, 585 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Stephens v. State, 478 So.2d 419 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Johnson v. State, 460 So.2d 954 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Fundamental error is defined as error that amounts to a denial of due process of law. See Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1991); Ray v. State,

403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981).

Williamson's claim that his three (3) convictions for attempted first-degree murder (Counts II-IV) should be vacated pursuant to <u>Gray</u> cannot constitute fundamental error since this Court has already ruled that <u>Gray</u> is not to be applied retroactively. <u>See State v. Hampton</u>, 699 So.2d 235 (Fla. 1997). In <u>Hampton</u>, the Supreme Court held that the crime of "attempted felony murder" was not a "nonexistent" offense, i.e. it was not a crime that had never been a valid statutory offense in Florida. Rather, "it was a valid offense, with enumerated elements and identifiable lesser offenses, for approximately eleven years. It only became "nonexistent" when we decided <u>Gray</u>." <u>Id</u>. Thus, the Supreme Court held that "<u>Gray</u> does not apply retroactively to those cases where the convictions had already become final before the issuance of the opinion." <u>See State v. Woodley</u>, 695 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1997) (holding <u>Gray</u> is not to be applied retroactively).

Since <u>Gray</u> is not required to be applied retroactively, it cannot be "fundamental error" or error that amounts to a denial of due process. Moreover, the lower court questioned at the hearing whether it could address the issue as an illegal sentence. The State contends that it could not. First, the challenge made by Williamson's motion is not to an illegal sentence, but rather is a claim that the underlying convictions should be vacated due to <u>Gray</u>. Second, the sentences, standing alone, are not illegal because they do not exceeded the statutory

maximum or fall below it. If the underlying convictions cannot be challenged because they do not constitute fundamental error, the sentences that flow from them cannot be considered illegal. Finally, the State notes that <u>Hill v. State</u>, 730 So.2d 322 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), which found a <u>Gray</u> issue to be fundamental error, failed completely to analyze the fact that <u>Gray</u> claims do not apply retroactively and, therefore, cannot constitute fundamental error. This claim should be denied.

ARGUMENT XI

WILLIAMSON'S CLAIM THAT HE IS ENTITLED TO A NEW PENALTY PHASE BECAUSE HIS THREE CONVICTIONS FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE MURDER TIPPED THE JURY'S SCALES IN FAVOR OF A DEATH RECOMMENDATION IS WITHOUT MERIT.

Claim XI seeks a new penalty phase, on fundamental error grounds, arguing that the jury improperly considered the three attempted first-degree murder convictions as part of the "prior violent felony" aggravator and therefore, improperly considered an "invalid" aggravator. Williamson claims that he is entitled to a new penalty phase because his three convictions for attempted first-degree murder, which he alleges must be vacated pursuant to <u>Gray</u>, tipped the jury's scale in favor of a death recommendation. Again, there is no fundamental error and no jurisdiction.

To begin, Williamson's argument is premised upon his contention that his three attempted first-degree murder convictions must be vacated because of <u>Gray</u>.

As noted under Point X, that argument is procedurally barred in the 3.850 proceeding because it could/should have been raised on direct appeal. Thus, Williamson's claim in this point fails at the outset. Second, even absent Williamson's convictions for attempted first-degree murder, there were still two other prior violent felonies that satisfied the prior violent felony aggravator. Williamson's argument is akin to a Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988), claim, wherein a defendant alleges that his sentence of death is invalid because a conviction relied upon to establish the "prior violent felony" aggravator is subsequently vacated. However, the case law establishes that in those types of cases, prejudicial error is not automatically presumed. Instead, any error in relying upon a then-valid conviction which is subsequently vacated, is subjected to a harmless error analysis. Only one prior violent felony conviction is necessary to support the aggravator. Consequently, the jury did not consider an invalid aggravator here, as Williamson argues, because there are two valid prior violent felony convictions to support the aggravator and the jury's consideration of the other three is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Occhicone, 768 So.2d at 1040 f.n.3(finding that even absent one prior violent felony, death sentence still appropriate given that the contemporaneous prior violent felony was sufficient to establish existence of this factor); Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So. 2d 313, 316 (Fla. 1993)(same); Buenoano v. State, 708 So. 2d 941, 952 (Fla. 1998)(same).

Owen v. State, 596 So. 2d 985, 990 (Fla. 1992) is instructive. Therein the jury heard evidence regarding Owen's three separate convictions for murder, sexual battery, and armed burglary of a fourteen year old girl. Those crimes were very similar in nature to the crimes for which he was on trial. A review of the direct appeal opinion regarding the suspect convictions clearly depicts the horrific nature of the prior violent felonies. Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1987). Although all three of those convictions were latter vacated, this Court found the error harmless given that there still remained one prior violent felony for attempted first degree murder. Owen, 596 So. 2d at 989-990. The state asserts that given the harmlessness attached to the jury's impermissible reliance on three horrific convictions, including one for murder, there can be no doubt that reliance on the three attempted first-degree murder convictions, even if subsequently vacated, would be harmless.

In support of the sentence of death, the trial court relied upon three aggravating factors. Those factors were as follows: (1) prior conviction of a violent felony; (2) committed while engaged in a robbery; (3) heinous, atrocious, and cruel. Williamson v. State, 681 So. 2d 688, 694 (Fla. 1996). In finding the aggravating factor of "prior violent felony", the court relied on five prior convictions. Those convictions included: a 1975 manslaughter conviction for brutally beating a four year-old to death; the contemporaneous attempted murder

convictions of Bob Decker, Clyde Decker, and Carl Decker; and the contemporaneous extortion conviction of Panoyan, who was threatened with death and serious bodily harm to him and his family. (R 5376-78). Thus, even if the attempted murder convictions were vacated, there are still two convictions supporting the "prior violent felony" aggravator.

The State also notes that the jury knew the facts surrounding the contemporaneous attempted murder convictions in this case. Bob and Clyde Decker testified in detail at the guilt phase, informing the jury that Williamson committed armed robbery of the Decker home and then shot Bob Decker twice in the back of the head with a .22 caliber handgun, shot Clyde Decker once in the face with the same .22 caliber gun, and shot Carl Decker, a 30 month-old child, once on the right side of his head. The jury could assess the strength and relevancy of Williamson's conduct. As explained by the Florida Supreme Court in Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204 (Fla. 1989), "[t]estimony concerning the events which resulted in the conviction assists the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime so that the jury can make an informed recommendation as to the appropriate sentence." Consequently, even if the attempted murder convictions were to be vacated, the jury was never exposed to materially inaccurate information. Any error must be considered harmless. See Spivey v. Head, 207 F.3d. 1263, 1282 (11 Cir. 2000)(finding that reversal of prior

violent felony conviction is of marginal impact given that the jury heard extensive evidence regarding the underlying conduct). Furthermore, Williamson cannot present this claim unless and until his convictions are actually vacated. That is, at present, these three convictions are valid; therefore, it cannot be presumed that the jury considered invalid convictions and it cannot constitute fundamental error. Even assuming that the three convictions for attempted first-degree murder were subsequently vacated, it does not automatically render the "prior violent felony" aggravator an <u>invalid aggravator</u>. Thus, even assuming arguendo, that the three convictions for attempted first-degree murder were subsequently vacated, any error in the jury considering them was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

This case is completely distinguishable from those where the consideration of a subsequently vacated conviction has been found harmful. For example, in Armstrong v. State, 862 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2003), the State presented three (3) prior violent felonies to support the "prior violent felony" aggravator: (1) a 1985 Massachusetts conviction of indecent assault and battery on a child of the age of fourteen; and (2) two (2) contemporaneous convictions for attempted first-degree murder of a second victim and robbery of a third. Subsequent to the affirmance of Armstrong's convictions and sentence, he successfully got the Massachusetts conviction vacated.

The trial court denied relief, concluding that error under Johnson v.

Mississippi was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of an armed robbery conviction obtained against Armstrong after his penalty phase that would be admissible upon resentencing as evidence of another valid, prior violent felony conviction to be considered in lieu of the vacated conviction. The Supreme Court disagreed, noting that in Armstrong's case, the jury considered, in support of an aggravating factor, evidence of a conviction that had since been revealed to be materially inaccurate as that conviction has been vacated. "Given the nature of the crime underlying the vacated conviction—a sexual offense upon a child—and the detailed testimony given by the young victim of that crime at Armstrong's penalty phase, we cannot say that the consideration of Armstrong's prior felony conviction of indecent assault and battery on a child of the age of fourteen constituted harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt."

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